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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                         Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

	CYNTHIA A. PRATT, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                            Applicant,

                                                   v. 

CATHOLIC COMMUNITY SERVICES,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

CATHOLIC MUTUAL/NORTHERN

ADJUSTERS, INC.,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                            Defendants.
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	          FINAL

          DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  200017992
        AWCB Decision No.  04-0170

         Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

         On  July 14, 2004


On May 18, 2004, in Juneau, Alaska, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board heard the employee’s claim for temporary total disability (TTD) from August 16, 2000 to the date of medical stability, medical costs incurred and continuing from August 16, 2000, and medical transportation costs as well as costs associated with participation in these proceedings.  The employee appeared pro se.  The employer was represented by Robert L. Griffin, attorney at law.  The record was held open to May 28, 2004 for submission of argument from the employer regarding the admissibility of journal articles and Internet downloads.  The employee was given to June 14, 2004 to submit her response at which time the record closed and the Board proceeded as a two-member panel pursuant to AS 23.30.005.


ISSUES
         1.   Has the employee established a compensable claim?

2. Should the employee’s exhibit consisting of journal articles and Internet downloads be included in the record?

3. Should references earlier than the period of the 1979 release be stricken from Dr. Harris’ report?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE


The employee suffered chest pains while working as the Human Resources Director for the employer on or about August 16, 2000.
  In her subsequent workers’ compensation claim, she sought permanent total disability (PTD) from August 16, 2000 forward, medical expenses and medical transportation costs, compensation rate adjustment, penalty, seven percent interest, a claim for a frivolous controversion, $7,191.50 in attorney’s fees for her former attorney, Robert Rehbock, and costs related to the proceeding.
  The employee began working for the employer February 8, 1999.  The employee separated from employment on September 13, 2000.  At that time, she was 57 years of age. She was placed on leave by her primary care physician, Dr. Krehlik, because of symptoms suggesting cardiovascular disease.  He released her to return to work October 19, 2000.

She completed a Report of Occupational Injury or Illness for the employer on September 13, 2000, asserting that prolonged work stress had caused muscle contraction around her heart.
  She alleges she was harassed by the employer's Finance Director and had other problems which caused stress in the workplace.

On November 15, 2000, the employee filed a workers’ compensation claim alleging that the body part injured was “stress/heart.”
  She claimed temporary total disability (“TTD”) benefits, medical benefits, attorney fees and legal costs.

I.  EMPLOYEE’S MEDICAL HISTORY FROM 1979 THROUGH SEPTEMBER 2000
When the employee filed her claim against the employer, she complained of sleepless nights, anxiety, anger, hot flashes, sweats, chills, high blood pressure, dizziness, that she could not stay awake during the day, seeing spots and wavy lines, incontinence and chest pain.

The following is a history of the employee’s complaints beginning in 1979 through September 2000 when the employee separated from her employment with the employer.  This history does not include all of the employee’s medical reports, which fill at least two banker’s boxes.  It includes only reports related to the employee’s claim against this employer.  The employee obviously saw some doctors more than others and some were more important to her claim than others.  Those who were important to her claim include John H. Doces, M.D., who  was her cardiologist in Seattle,  John Kuhlik, M.D., one of her physicians in Juneau and she also saw a heart specialist, David W. Sonneborn, M.D.

In October, 1979, the employee was first treated for chest pain and sleep disturbance.  She was seen by John H. Doces, M.D. of the Polyclinic in Seattle on October 15, 1979.  Dr. Doces interpreted her electrocardiogram from August 1979 and found it to be normal but it did suggest possible intra-atrial conduction delay and/or left atrial enlargement.
  

The employee was seen again at the Poly Clinic on September 29, 1980 for physical complaints including “labored forceful heartbeat.”  The decision was made to have a followup echocardiogram to assess the question of mitral valve prolapse.

In November, 1981, the employee was back at the Poly Clinic “…with problems of emotional instability, irritability and she is hard on her boyfriend, coworkers and roommate.”  The examination findings were negative.  Dr. Doces commented:


I believe that because of 25% cutback at her work and people have been laid off, this is stress causing.  Also her roommate does not clean the room as much as she would like to – therefore this is irritating.  I believe this is psychological and she agreed to work on this problem by herself.

On December 4, 1981, the employee was again seen again by Dr. Doces for numbness and tingling in the right arm and leg.  Mention is made of “…tension and stress playing a role, although she doesn’t believe this is a factor…she mentions she is working 2 jobs but feels confident doing this and not overtaxed.” 
  The employee told him that “…once she forgot her way around where she works and has worked there 5 years.”  Dr. Doces could find no abnormality upon examination but did refer to employee for a neurological evaluation.

The employee was sent to B. Robert Aigner, M.D., a neurologist at the Poly Clinic.  He saw her for pain and tingling in the back of the neck, her right arm (and leg) going to sleep, headaches and double vision.  She also noted an experience where she became confused.  She was driving to work and did not know which building to go into until she had driven three blocks beyond it.  She also believed she had a heart murmur.  Dr. Aigner diagnosed a chronic cervical sprain and her response to the pinprick test suggested her problem was “nonatonomic and usually seen in patients in whom tension factors are present.”
  Dr. Aigner concluded that the majority of her complaints are primarily on a non-organic basis related to stress.  He could find no physiological basis to account for her symptoms.  The employee informed Dr. Aigner that she had rheumatic heart disease but this was not corroborated by the tests which were done.  He was prepared to suggest psychiatric counseling to the employee.
  In a letter dated March 1, 1982, the employee was referred by Dr. Aigner for a psychiatric evaluation.

Dr. Doces saw the employee again March 19, 1982.  He noted that the employee had not followed through with Dr. Aigner’s recommendation for psychiatric consultation.  In the meantime, the employee had a vascular consultation which did not reveal anything which would explain her symptoms.  She continued to have a forceful heartbeat at times, spots in front of her eyes, nonspecific numbness of the right arm and right leg and she was anxious.   Dr. Doces stated:  “I would concur that a psychiatric opinion and evaluation is indicated and I have advised the patient to proceed and she is agreeable…”

On February 4, 1983, the employee saw Dr. Doces for palpitations.  Dr. Doces stated “I think her chest pain is noncardiac.”

On March 24, 1992, the employee was seen at a medical facility in Barrow.  At that time, she was working for the North Slope Borough.  She was prescribed BuSpar for stress and Halcyon for sleep.  The diagnosis was “stress related chest and neck pain.”
  In March 1992, the employee was treated for chest pain and anxiety attacks.
  The employee was again seen for chest pain October 2, 1992.

In January 1993, the employee’s medical record indicates complaints of chest pressure.
  On May 15, 1993, the employee’s tests revealed “no coronary arteries to be abnormal.”

In July 1998, the employee was working for the Borough of Juneau.  On July 10, 1998, the employee reported depression which was treated by Zoloft.  She also reported “…a lot of stress at work…”   She reported her palpitations had mostly resolved and the chest pain completely resolved.

On August 17, 1998, she returned for follow-up and reported she was not working any more.  This “removed a significant source of stress in her life.”  The “Assessment” stated “Depression improved.”

On November 10, 1998, the employee was seen for her annual exam.  Among other things, she complained of chest pain which had been evaluated “…in the past with a normal treadmill and normal cardiac cath in 1993.”  At the time of this visit, the employee was taking Zoloft, Daypro, Premarin, Verelan, Triam/HCTZ and Ativan.  Her diagnosed conditions included chest pain which had been “…worked up in the past.” The employee reported “she  would like to touch base with cardiologist and she is still having symptoms now.”
  After a year on Zoloft, it was suggested that she get off Zoloft so she could take another drug to help her lose weight.  If her depressive symptoms returned, she would go back to Zoloft.

Again on January 7, 1999, the employee was seen for “nonspecific chest pain” which she reported had diminished to once a week or so that she gets a sharp discomfort.

In May 1999, the employee was treated for vertigo.  John Krehlik, M.D., her Juneau physician, diagnosed her a suffering from vertigo which was mostly peripheral in nature.  On May 25, 1999, the employee had a treadmill test which was unremarkable.
  On June 2, 1999, she again reported anterior chest pain and another exercise treadmill test was a done which was normal.
  The employee was referred to David Sonneborn, M.D., for a full evaluation.

The employee was seen by Dr. Sonneborn, of the Alaska Heart Institute, on June 25, 1999.  She complained of slight grabbing chest pain and pains which were more intense and frequent during the last three weeks.   These were the same type of pains she has had for years.  In his assessment, Dr. Sonneborn stated 

I think that it is unlikely that this woman’s symptomatology is related to her heart.  I have tried to explain this to her and reassure her.  If she has increasing symptomatology, we could proceed with a repeat catheterization. 

Dr. Sonneborn saw the employee again August 30, 1999. He noted that she was enigmatic.  He stated:

She is a woman who had a normal catheterization and has continued to be tormented with chest discomfort, some of which may be new.  These latter are a pressure on her chest going to the left side of her neck.

Dr. Sonneborn recommended another catheterization.

Dr. Doces saw the employee again on September 23, 1999.
   He saw her for a cardiac reevaluation.  She complained of chest grabbing pains.  He last saw her in July 1990.  The employee reported that these chest pains began about 1992, that she saw Dr. Gary Archer in Anchorage for these and was prescribed Verelan, lorazepam and nitroglycerin.  Dr. Doces noted the employee had a component of chest wall pain and possibly exertional angina. Dr. Doces concurred in the recommendation for another catheterization.   

On October 1, 1999, the employee was seen by Dr. Doces following the coronary angiography.  The test showed no significant coronary artery disease and minimal valve prolapse.  He noted that her cardiac status was stable.  He concluded she had atypical chest pains, possible angina but no significant angiographic coronary artery disease.

On April 7, 2000 and May 8, 2000, the employee was seen for right rib pain. The diagnosis was possible costochrondritis.
 It was noted that the employee experienced stress as a result of her mother’s death in December 1999.  On May 26, 2000, the employee was again seen by Dr. Duncan for several conditions including “right costochondritis”.  Dr. Duncan noted “Patient states she believes she is making progress in her bereavement process and has actually considered whether her emotional pain may be exacerbating her physical pain.”
   

Dr. Krehlik extended her work excuse for the employer on August 17, 2000 and noted the employee experienced transient chest pain.
  On September 5, 2000, the employee revisited Dr. Krehlik for CAD
, hypertension and stress at work.  The employee noted that chest pains disappeared when she was absent from Juneau and reappeared upon her return.  She asked for another week off from work and Dr. Krehlik noted that since her workplace is causing her stress and subsequent pain that was a reasonable approach.  They also discussed psychological counseling.

The employee was also seen by Dr. Krehlick on September 18, 2000 for nonspecific chest pain.  The employee complained of work stress and its precipitating chest pain which she wanted to avoid.
 

II.  EMPLOYEE’S MEDICAL HISTORY SINCE HER EMPLOYMENT WITH THE EMPLOYER
After the employee left work for the employer in August of 2000, she was seen by both her own physicians in Juneau and at least one other physician, Martha Boulos, M.D., in Pennyslvania, where the employee relocated briefly to be near family.  She subsequently returned to Juneau.  She was also seen by other physicians for other conditions such as a hernia surgery on October 10, 2001 and a right knee replacement in December 2001.    

After she left employment and filed her claim, she saw several doctors at the request of the employer including Werner Samson, M.D., Christian Harris, M.D. and Lawrence Zivin, M.D.

The employee was also evaluated to establish evidence with respect to seizure activity at Swedish Hospital in Seattle in January 2003.  David G. Vossler, M.D. rendered his medical opinion regarding her stay.  She was referred by her Juneau neurologist Susan Hunter-Joerns.

She also continued to see other physicians including a referral from Dr. Doces to Benduan Yang, M.D., in Seattle as well as Brian Cole, M.D. in Juneau.

A Second Independent Medical Examination (SIME) was ordered by the Board.  The employee was seen by Samuel M. Sobol, M.D. Clinical Professor of Medicine with Cardiology Faculty Practice at University of California at San Francisco.  He evaluated her cardiac condition.  The other SIME physician was Ron Turco, M.D. of Beaverton, Oregon who performed a psychiatric evaluation.

The employee was seen by other physicians along with way but their findings have not been included in this summary of her medical history.  The physicians included in the summary are those whose findings have a significant bearing on the employee’s claim.

Turning now to the employee’s medical history after she left employment with the employer, the employee received psychotherapy from John Kesselring, Ph.D at the Bartlett Outpatient Services from September 11, 2000 to March 19, 2001.  She requested help with workplace stress and sexual harassment.  His diagnosis was Adjustment Disorder with Mixed Anxiety and Depressed Mood.

The employee’s claim has not been accepted by the employer.  The employee’s private health insurer paid for some of the employee’s doctor visits after she separated from employment in September 2000.  

On March 5, 2001, the employee’s then counsel, Mr. Rehbock, wrote to Dr. Doces in Seattle regarding the employee’s condition.  He asked whether the episodes of stress in August 2000 significantly worsened or accelerated the employee’s condition.  Dr. Doces replied in a note dated April 5, 2001:


This patient had no angiographic coronary artery disease that was significant on her angiogram done 9/30/99.  She had a normal stress echo on 8/30/00.  She however could have angina at times related to stress therefore increased stress may aggravate her possible angina.  The diagnosis of angina was not unequivocally objectively been established.

On June 14, 2001, the employee was seen by Brian Cole, M.D., Heart and Medicine of Juneau.  His report noted that the employee had been seeing a cardiologist since the 1970’s when she was first referred in Seattle.  The employee stated she had lots of palpitations.  The report observes:


The patient states that she just has not been feeling well recently.  She told me that she should not work.  She was working, and when working got chest discomfort, and with that chest discomfort was told she should not work.  She states that the discomfort that she is getting is a sharp discomfort.  She states that recently she felt as if she was reacting quite negatively to stressful situations, and in those situations felt like her heart was skipping more significantly, and that she was having more abnormality of her heartbeat, then she would sometimes get a chest pressure, and now she only gets a sharp pain in the L chest…The dizziness she complains of is a constant sensation and not a vertiginous sensation.  She feels like the road is wavy and there are periods of SOB when she has the dizziness…The patient has also been advised by Dr. Krehlik, according to the patient, that she should not be doing any kind of work because of the abnormalities in her cardiac testing…

The report noted the August 15, 2000 cardiac testing done as well as the September 30, 1999 catheterization which showed no significant coronary artery disease.  The report also notes that the stress echo did not show any findings of the small anterior wall defect that was demonstrated on persantine sestamibi testing. 


Dr. Cole went on to conclude:


The patient’s cardiac status is very uncertain.  I cannot tell from her symptom complex whether she is having exertional chest discomfort and my feeling that the chest discomfort she is having is the sharp chest discomfort and I think that is cigarette related chest discomfort only and will not go away until she quits smoking and is off cigarettes for a full 6 months and does not start smoking again…I am not sure of the degree of overlay of the patient’s symptoms and I am somewhat concerned because she has been told she cannot do any type of gainful employment because of the severity of her coronary disease.  She does not have coronary disease, so there certainly is no coronary disease present.  Coronary anatomy is normal… 


On July 27, 2001, Brian Cole, M.D. released the employee to employment without restrictions.

On September 21, 2001, the employee was seen by a neurologist at the Poly Clinic, Benuan Yang, M.D.  This referral was made by Dr. Doces.  The employee complained of confusion spells.  The neurologic examination was normal.  Dr. Yang recommended a brain MRI
 to rule out complex partial seizures secondary to occult or symptomatic stroke.  He also recommended an EEG.

Dr. Yang saw her again October 12, 2001.  He noted that her MRI
 scan:  

showed only scant tiny T2 hyperintensities in the deep white matters which is most likely from mild small-vessel disease.  There was not any significant focus to account for her seizure activity. 

With regard to her EEG
, he noted: 

intermittent rhythmic theta slowing and occasional delta slowing in both hemispheres symmetrically.  These are nonspecific findings and they can be due to a variety of hypoxic, metabolic, degenerative or postictal states.

Dr. Yang saw her again December 14, 2001 for “probable nonconvulsive complex partial seizures.” Dr. Yang considered her condition to be responding to treatment with Tegretol.
  The employee reported significant improvement in her condition.

On October 3, 2001, the employee was seen at the request of the employer by Werner Samson, M.D.
  Dr. Samson is with the University of Washington Medical School.  He found no indication that the employee was suffering from cardiac disease.  He did note evidence of mitral valve prolapse which preceded the employee’s employment with the employer.  Dr. Samson noted that persons with this condition at times have nonspecific chest discomfort.  He did not believe her work was a substantial factor in bringing about her complaints.  He found no evidence of coronary artery disease.  He did not consider her to have a work injury.  He also found that her work could not have aggravated any preexisting cardiac condition.  He could find not cardiac related reason why the employee could not work as a human resources manager.  He did not believe the employee required further testing.  He concluded that she has not suffered any permanent impairment or temporary aggravation as a result of her employment with the employer.

The employee also had a psychiatric evaluation on October 4, 2001.  She was seen by G. Christian Harris, M.D., a Diplomate of the American Board of Psychiatry.
  He conducted a three hour interview with the employee along with a review of her medical records.  He diagnosed “Passive Dependent Personality Disorder” and based on Dr. Samson’s report, no cardiovascular disease.  Dr. Harris noted that the employee denied her own difficulties and contributions to interpersonal problems and readily projected on others as being the cause of her difficulties.

Dr. Harris concluded that her passive dependent personality disorder was characterized by a history of somatization complaints which are based on overutilization of defenses such as denial and projection.
  He observed “…she has pursued a path lifelong of blaming others for whatever problems she has in life and a utilization of quasi-physical complaints to validate these complaints.”
  He found no evidence of “extraordinary or unusual stress” in her work with the employer.
  He concluded that “she has no physical findings that support a diagnosis of physical disease and her complaints do not manifest a mental disorder condition or diagnosis related to her employment.”
  Her found her to be stable as defined by AS 23.30.395(21).  He found that her work had nothing to do with her medical condition and her physical condition and that she was not disabled.  He concluded that she was not mentally or physically unable to work as a human resources manager or anything else she would desire to work at.  He recommended no further treatment since there was no relevant diagnosis.  He concluded she was medically stable throughout her employment with the employer.

On February 22, 2002, Mr. Rehbock withdrew from representation of the employee and she continued to represent herself since that time.

On June 3, 2002, the employee amended her claim to include complex partial seizures. 

At the Board’s direction, the employee was examined on June 14, 2002 by psychiatrist Ronald Turco, M.D., and cardiologist Samuel M. Sobol, M.D.
  Both Second Independent Medical Examination (SIME) physicians found the employee had suffered no cardiac injury.  Dr. Sobol, a clinical professor of medicine, senior physician, Cardiology Faculty Practice at the University of California at San Francisco, noted the employee had suffered similar chest pains since at least 1993.
  

He found she had not sustained any physical injury.  He found no cardiac disease or condition of concern.  He also found that while her work conditions may have aggravated her symptoms they did not result in any permanent change or disability. He believed she was medically stable at the time of the examination and was so within three months of discontinuing work.   He found that she was never physically unable to work as a human resources manager.  He found no need for additional treatment or diagnostic testing except for continuation of her current medications.  He found no permanent impairment.  He administered an electrocardiogram, which produced essentially normal results.
  He diagnosed acute chest pain of non-cardiac, probably gastrointestinal, origin.
  He felt she could return to work.
  He confirmed these conclusions in his October 11, 2001 letter in which he states the employee suffers from functional symptoms, has no work injury, has not aggravated any preexisting condition, has no reason not bto be able to work and has suffered no permanent impairment.

Dr. Turco noted the employee’s records showed chronic cardiovascular-type complaints with “stress-related” chest and neck pains throughout her medical history, but her cardiovascular studies appeared normal.
  He also noted that an electroencephalogram done in October 2001 was abnormal.  He felt it was likely she suffered from complex partial seizures or hysteria. 
  He noted the presence of stress related symptoms long before her employment with the employer.
 Dr. Turco noted differences in the history presented at his interview as opposed to the history present to Dr. Harris.
 Dr. Turco noted that the employee tended to project her difficulties onto others.
  He did not find that she sustained a mental injury while working for the employer.  He did not find anything unusual or extraordinary as far as the employee’s description of the workplace. Rather, he noted that much of what she described appeared to be the usual interaction between a supervisor and supervisee and co-workers attempting to get a job done.
 Her work experience has not aggravated, accelerated or combined with an pre-existing psychological or physical state to produce additional mental or physical  injury.  Dr. Turco explained

The complex partial seizures are essentially independent and an inherent part of her nervous system.  Work situations, as well as personal psychosocial situations, do not produce epilepsy.

Dr. Turco felt there was reason to question the employee’s perception of reality. He felt it was more likely than not that her work was not a substantial factor in bringing about any physical complaints.  He also felt her work for the employer was not a substantial factor requiring any treatment or diagnostic testing.  He found that she had no permanent impairment as it relates to the workplace.   He felt she could return to work.
  

The employee’s treating neurologist, Susan Hunter-Joerns, M.D., subsequently attributed the employee’s chest pains to seizures.
  The employee last saw Dr. Hunter-Joerns in April 2003.

In a letter to the employer’s attorney, dated August 9, 2002, the employee raised the issue of the work-stress-relatedness of her seizure condition.  She noted the condition was affecting her smooth muscles, heart, body temperature, breathing, vision, equilibrium; and producing incontinence, rhinitus, “GERD,” and low back pains.
  

In a letter to Board Designee Doug Gerke, dated September 18, 2002, the employee indicated she wished to amend her claims to reflect that workplace stress caused or aggravated complex partial seizures, and listed her claims as TTD benefits, temporary partial disability (“TPD”) benefits, permanent total disability (“PTD”) benefits, permanent partial disability (“PPD”) benefits, medical benefits, transportation costs, attorney fees and legal costs. 
 

The employer served and filed a Controversion Notice dated October 10, 2002, asserting there was no evidence to support a work-related injury.

Beginning January 31, 2003, the employee began taking psychotropic medication in the form of Effexor XR, which was prescribed by Dr. Hunter-Joerns.   Also in January 2003, the employee spent five days at the Swedish Medical Center in Seattle for evaluation of her complex partial seizures.  This evaluation was done at the request of Dr. Hunter-Joerns.
  It was noted that the employee had a 22-year history of spells of various types.  The physicians there found the employee had numerous "subjective spells," but there were no objective EEG
 changes during these events, and her EEG's during all of these events were completely normal.  They stated that complex partial seizures were a type of epilepsy and the employee did not suffer from epilepsy.

David G. Vossler, M.D. was one of the doctors who saw the employee during her stay at Swedish Hospital.  In his Discharge Summary, he noted 

The patient had numerous subjective spells which include visual alterations, pains or pressure in the head, light-headedness or tinnitus or chest pressure.  There were no EEG changes during these events, and the EEG between all of her events was completely normal…She had an EKG on the day on which she had some chest discomfort.  This was normal.  She has had many, many cardiac tests in the past and was felt to have atypical chest pain.  In the past it was relieved by nitroglycerin.  This was the case in the hospital.

It is our impression…that her seizures most likely are nonepileptic.  However, one should keep a close eye on the patient in the event that a high index of suspicion again occurs, suggesting these might be epileptic seizures, in which case the patient might need re-evaluation.
  

On January 28, 2003, the employee was found eligible for Social Security Disability Benefits effective August 16, 2000.
  The basis for this determination included consideration of all her physical and mental conditions including rhinitis, seizures, heart condition, chronic back pain, chronic knee pain and glaucoma.

On February 12, 2003, the employee saw David Kuhaneck, a psychiatrist in Juneau, for an evaluation.  She explained that she had a problem with stress.  He noted her chest pain complaints as well as Dr. Doces’ impression that they might be related to stress related chest tightness. Dr. Kuhaneck diagnosed “Depressive Disorder Not Otherwise Specified” as well as severe stress due to multiple health problems.

In a subsequent letter to the employee dated February 14, 2003, Dr. Vossler recommended the employee see a psychologist to determine the cause of her “seizure-like events.”  Dr. Vossler reiterated to the employee that the spells were not epileptic and were considered to be “psychogenic.”

On February 28, 2003, at the request of the employer, the employee was seen by Lawrence Zivin, M.D., a Board-certified neurologist.
 He noted the employee’s history of mitral valve prolapse.  He found no meaningful or significant neurological disorders present in the employee. He questioned the diagnosis of partial complex seizures and whether the results of the EEG and the MRI obtained by Dr. Yang were sufficient to represent a basis for prescribing Tegretol.  He concluded:

This woman does not have neurological disease and does not have cardiac disease.  She has a psychological behavioral failure…in which there is a failure of her own processes for monitoring, analyzing and prioritizing the somatic messages that are delivered from a variety of parts of her body to her brain; resulting in her recurrent need to reexamine every little bodily feeling, to make sure it is not a sign of threatening disease or infirmity.  This is a woman in search of an illness-neither she nor her physicians have learned how to stop it.

He stated the employee's employment had no effect on her because she had no neurological condition.  He concluded that her employment with the employer in this case did not accelerate or combine with any preexisting condition to result in disability or need for medical treatment.  He also concluded that her employment with the employer in this case was not a substantial factor in any subsequent need for medical treatment.  The employee was medically stable and neurologically sound before, during and after her employment with CCS.  He concluded that she did not have complex seizures at any time.
  She suffered no permanent impairment.

On March 19, 2003, the employee saw Dr. Kuhaneck again.  She told him her work history of sexual harassment in her job with the employer had led to the development of non-epileptic seizures.

On July 10, 2003, the employee filed a new claim.
  She asserted that the hostile work environment caused unusual stress and, as a result, the employee had heart problems and non-epileptic seizures.  She claimed that as a result of the work stress, she suffered from anxiety induced chest pain, non-epileptic seizures which caused dizziness, black-outs, amnesia, unusual sleep patterns, double vision, memory loss and loss of muscle coordination.
  

The employee was seen by Martha Boulos, M.D., her current neurologist in Monongahela, Pennsylvania. She has seen Dr. Boulos since 1993.  In her September 23, 2003 report, she indicated that the employee’s nonepileptic symptoms are “questionable.”
  Dr. Boulos believed that the employee’s complicated medical history existed since 2001.  In her report of November 18, 2003, she suggests that the employee see a psychiatrist.
  The employee stated she would like to hold off until she is done with her next hearing.
  Dr. Boulos stated she encouraged the employee to consider it seriously as soon as she could.

On October 16, 2002 and November 13, 2003, the employee filed Petitions seeking:  all lawsuits filed against the employer from August 16, 2000 through the present; copies of all workers’ compensation claims filed against the employer because of work stress since August 16, 2000; disclosure of any records of State or Federal investigations regarding the employer's misappropriation of public funds received through State and Federal grants since 1999; a copy of the employer’s Finance Director’s personnel file from the date of hire to the date of termination; and any records of investigations regarding the failure of the Finance Director to accurately claim his income from the employer.

On October 30, 2003, the Board Designee denied the employee’s petition for discovery in its entirety.  The employee appealed this determination.  By Interlocutory Decision and Order issued March 8, 2004, the Board found the Board Designee did not abuse his discretion in denying the employee’s petition for discovery and the Petition for Discovery was denied and dismissed.

III.  HEARING TESTIMONY
At the hearing, the employee testified that she had been a human resources person for “years and years.”  She described what happens as a result of her somatoform disorder, i.e. psychogenic seizures.  Her symptoms are variable. Sometimes she blacks out.  Sometimes there is muscle weakness which makes her fall down.  She has had seizures while driving which led her to drive miles past her destination.  She also reported flashing bright lights that could wake her up.  Sometimes she cannot process what people around her are saying.  Sometimes she cannot express herself.  She described herself as feeling weird, incompetent, lack of energy, not feeling good, double vision, periods of vertigo, head falling forward and jerking up, sleep exhaustion, loss of co-ordination, left side of her body goes weak, periods of confusion, ringing in ears, numbness of hands and feet, unable to speak, cannot stay awake, forgetting repetitive tasks and vomiting. 

She maintains that Drs. Sobol, Turco, Harris, Yang, Hunter-Joern, Kesselring, Kuhaneck and Vossler all support her claim that she is suffering form a somatoform disorder.
  In her closing argument, she recited portions of medical reports which she believes support her claim.

She attributes a large portion of her problems to stress caused by the employer’s director of finance and his alleged sexual harassment or harassment of her.  In her deposition she was asked about the nature of the harassment.  She replied that it was “short lived” and that he called her at home a few times and wanted to come over, “…had some liquor, just wanted to get to know me better.” At the time these events occurred, she did not view them as “anything”, but she later felt he retaliated against her.
 The employee alleges that even if she was not sexually harassed, she was harassed by the Director of Finance while employed with the employer.  The employee also felt stressed because she attempted to advise the executive director regarding the harassment as well as operational procedures and felt she was not heard.     

On cross examination, the employee was questioned about her previous work history and asked as to why she did not tell her subsequent employers about being fired from her N. Slope Borough job.

Appearing as a witness on behalf of the employee was David Kuhaneck, M.D., a psychiatrist at Bartlett Outpatient Psychiatric Service (BOPS).  He treated the employee from February 12, 2003 to April 2003.  He considered her to be suffering from a depressive disorder not otherwise specifically caused by nonepileptic seizures.  He considered the seizures to be related to stress.  He accepted her account of the work stress situation as she described it.  He believed that the Director of Finance was giving the employee unwanted attention.  He opined that stress caused her to have nonepileptic or psychogenic seizures.  These represent a somatoform disorder which represents emotional stress expressed through physical symptoms.  He considered her to be disabled due to her physical symptoms.  He found no organic basis for her complaints.   The only objective findings were based on her subjective complaints.  He relied on her reports as to events surrounding her symptoms.  All of his conclusions are based on what the employee told him.

Several witnesses appeared on behalf of the employer. These witnesses interacted with the employee while she was working for the employer.

Skip Elliot testified as former business manager for the Diocese of Juneau from 1992 to 2001.  He explained that the Diocese purchased insurance for the employer.  He was familiar with the employee and the employee’s work environment.  He had met the Director of Finance and did not consider him to be intimidating or harassing but rather looking for friendship.  He felt the employee distorted the truth to cover her inability to perform her work.  He did not believe that the stress in the employee’s workplace was unusual and extraordinary.

Rosemary Hagevig testified as the executive director of the employer.  She had contact with the employee in the course of discharging her oversight responsibilities regarding the employer.  She kept track of personnel matters. She also knew the Director of Finance and considered him to be a harmless individual. She did not consider stress associated with the employee’s workplace to be extraordinary and unusual.  

Denise Grant testified for the employer.  She worked for the Diocese of Juneau.  She does accounting and administers retirement and insurance for the Diocese.  She worked for the Diocese before, during and after the employee worked for the employer CSS.  Before that, she was office manager and took care of personnel matters for a medical clinic.  She also knew the Director of Finance and considered him to be a social and friendly person.  She performed the same type of work as the employee and observed the employee in her job and did not consider the employee’s job to involve extraordinary and unusual stress.  

Nancy Barto testified for the employer.  She is assistant director of the employer.  She took the employee’s position after she left.  She did not consider the workplace to involve extraordinary and unusual stress.  She knew the Director of Finance and never considered his behavior to be inappropriate.

IV. EMPLOYER’S ARGUMENT

The employer maintains that there are two types of mental stress claims.  The first category consists of physical injuries caused by work related mental stimulus.  These alleged injuries are subject to the provisions of AS 23.30.120.  The employer maintains that the employee has experienced a variety of physical complaints for years preceding her employment with the employer and she has not established that her conditions are related to her work with the employer.  The employer maintains that there has not been an organic finding or diagnosis which supports her complaints as being related to work with this employer. The second category of mental stress claims consist of alleged mental injuries caused by work related stress.  These claims are not subject to the provision of AS 23.30.120.  They must be established by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The employer maintains that the stress of the workplace was not unusual or extraordinary as required by AS 23.30.395(17).   The employer asserts that the employee has not established by a preponderance of the evidence that the work place stress was unusual and extraordinary.

With regard to the employee’s being found eligible for social security disability benefits, the employer notes that the conditions involved in this application included seizures, heart condition, chronic back pain, chronic knee pain, glaucoma and rhinitis.

The employer notes that the employee has consistently refused to engage in counseling although it has been frequently recommended that she do so to address her condition.

V.  EMPLOYEE’S ARGUMENT
The employee notes that the Social Security Administration found her to be disabled for purposes of receipt of social security benefits as of her separation from employment with the employer.

She cites numerous medical reports which she believes support her claim that work stress caused her to have heart problems and non-epileptic seizures.  She maintains that her preexisting physical condition was aggravated by workplace stress which was extraordinary and unusual. The result, according to the employee is a compensable claim.  

The employee maintains that her doctor removed her from her job with the employer because of work related stress which was diagnosed as aggravation of a somatoform disorder.  She indicates that Dr. Vossler has diagnosed her as suffering from psychogenic nonepileptic seizures which she states are caused by stressful psychological or emotional trauma.  She maintains that her physical symptoms are serious enough to interfere with her employment and relationships and that these symptoms are not under her control.  She notes that testing done by Mr. Berberich shows a tendency on her part to convert psychological tensions into physical conditions.  She maintains that her physicians support a diagnosis of psychogenic seizures due to work related stress.  She lists Drs. Sobol, Turco, Harris and Berberich, Yang, Hunter-Joern, Kesselring, Kuhaneck, Krelick and Vossler as all finding that she suffers from a somatoform disorder.  She also asserts that Dr. Turco’s report should be discounted as he assessed her for epilepsy when what she says she has a nonepileptic seizures.   

At the close of the May 18, 2004 hearing, the employee offered journals and Internet downloads for inclusion as part of the record.  These items concern epilepsy.  The employer objected after the presiding officer would have admitted the items with a caveat as to the limited weight they would be given.  The employer asked for an opportunity to brief this issue and did so in its “Employer’s Post-Hearing Evidentiary Brief” which was submitted May 27, 2004.  

The employee submitted a Notice of Intent To Rely to the Board on April 16, 2004 which included the items in question.  The employer submitted a request for cross examination of the authors of the documents on April 26, 2004.  The authors of the documents were not made available for cross-examination by the employee.  The employer maintains that under Employer’s Commercial Union Insurance v. Schoen,
 the statutory right to cross-examination is absolute and applicable to hearings before the Board.  According to the employer, denial of the opportunity to cross-examine is error.  Under 8 AAC 45.120(f) any document that is served on the parties and in the Board’s possession 20 or more days before the hearing will be relied upon by the Board in reaching the decision unless a request for cross examination is filed at least 10 days before the hearing.  If the request for cross examination is made, the opportunity for cross examination will be provided unless it is withdrawn or unless it is within the scope of one of the three exceptions provided for in 8 AAC 45.120(h).  The employer maintains that there is no allowable exception to the hearsay rule which would allow admission of the documents in question without the right to cross-examination.  The employer then reviewed prior Board decisions which it maintains support its position.  It then argues that the employee’s proposed exhibits are objectionable due to lack of ability to cross examine their authors, lack of foundation and questions as to their authenticity.  The employer also maintains that they do not fall within any of the recognized exceptions to the hearsay rule.  Nor are they admissible under Alaska Rule of Evidence 803(18) as learned treatises.
  Finally, the employer argues that the documents lack basic circumstantial indicators of trustworthiness, their authors names and addresses have not been provided and their applicability of the views expressed to the employee’s individual situation is questionable. 

The employee’s position regarding the documents was set forth in her post hearing evidentiary brief.
  The employee maintains that 8 AAC 45.120(e) provides:


e) Technical rules relating to evidence and witnesses do not apply in board proceedings, except as provided in this chapter. Any relevant evidence is admissible if it is the sort of evidence on which responsible persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious affairs, regardless of the existence of any common law or statutory rule which might make improper the admission of such evidence over objection in civil actions. Hearsay evidence may be used for the purpose of supplementing or explaining any direct evidence, but it is not sufficient in itself to support a finding of fact unless it would be admissible over objection in civil actions. The rules of privilege apply to the same extent as in civil actions. Irrelevant or unduly repetitious evidence may be excluded on those grounds.
The employee then goes on to cite 8 ACC 45.144(g) regarding “Legal Memoranda”.  The provision cited is actually found at 8 AAC 45.120(g) which states:

(g) A request for cross-examination filed under (f) of this section must (1) specifically identify the document by date and author, and generally describe the type of document; and (2) state a specific reason why cross-examination is being requested. 

The employee then goes on to state that the employer’s counsel in his request for cross examination of April 26, 2004 did not specify the author he wished to examine and therefore his request was incomplete and invalid.  The employee goes on to explain that the documents were obtained at the recommendation of Dr. Hunter-Joerns when she advised the employee to “look up Epilepsy Foundation of America web site and get stress/anxiety connection with seizures.”  The employee also notes that the medical summary containing the references was sent to the prehearing officer and opposing counsel in early 2000 and no request for cross examination was made at that time.  The employee also challenged the employer’s counsel’s use of references in the May 27, 2004 submission but did not respond with citation of authorities of her own.  The employee also maintains that the journals and Internet downloads are admissible as they are to be utilized to support the diagnosis of somatorform disorder made by physicians who saw the employee.  The employee goes on to point out that non-epileptic seizures are the result of the body’s response to excess stress.  The employee claims that the result is a somatoform disorder which can lie dormant until aggravated, often by stress.  The employee notes that according to Dr. Vossler, the somatoform disorder produces seizures.  The employee maintains that the proffered exhibits do not create a diagnosis but are offered to explain the diagnosis made by her doctors.  She maintains that they define the terms “somatoform disorder” and “psychogenic seizures” in much the same way Webster’s Dictionary would and that they are generic in nature.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I.  PRESUMPTION ANALYSIS
AS 23.30.180 defines Permanent Total Disability as follows:

(a) In case of total disability adjudged to be permanent 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the total disability. If a permanent partial disability award has been made before a permanent total disability determination, permanent total disability benefits must be reduced by the amount of the permanent partial disability award, adjusted for inflation, in a manner determined by the board. Loss of both hands, or both arms, or both feet, or both legs, or both eyes, or of any two of them, in the absence of conclusive proof to the contrary, constitutes permanent total disability. In all other cases permanent total disability is determined in accordance with the facts. In making this determination the market for the employee's services shall be 

(1) area of residence; 

(2) area of last employment; 

(3) the state of residence; and 

(4) the State of Alaska. 

(b) Failure to achieve remunerative employability as defined in AS 23.30.041(r) does not, by itself, constitute permanent total disability.

The injured worker is afforded a presumption that all the benefits he or she seeks are compensable.
  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the type of claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  The employee need only adduce “some” “minimal” relevant evidence
 establishing a “preliminary link” between the injury claimed and employment
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.

The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.
  First, the employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the disability and his or her employment.  Second, once the preliminary link is established, it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury was not work related.
  To overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must present substantial evidence that the injury was not work-related.
  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of proof, the Board examines the employer’s evidence in isolation.
 

There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: (1) produce substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.
  "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  The Board defers questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer's evidence until after it has decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee's injury entitles him to compensation benefits.
  

The third step of the presumption analysis provides that, if the employer produces substantial evidence that the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of her case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must "induce a belief" in the mind of the trier of fact that the asserted facts are probably true.
 

Applying the presumption analysis to the case at hand, the Board finds the claimant introduced sufficient evidence to raise the presumption of compensability.
  This is based on Dr. Kuhanack’s testimony and his reports.  He stated that the employee suffered from a depressive disorder and non-epileptic seizures.  He believed that some of the employee’s stress came from the workplace. The Board also finds that Dr. Krehlik’s reports of September 5 and 18, 2000 are sufficient to raise the presumption of compensability regarding the employee’s claims of stress in the workplace and its physical effects causing her to experience chest pain.

The Board does not weigh the credibility of the testimony during the first stage of the presumption analysis.
  We find the claimant has introduced sufficient “minimal” evidence to establish the compensability of her claim.  We also find that this claim is based on highly technical medical considerations and that the claimant has presented medical evidence necessary to make that connection.
  Following the Court’s rationale in Meek,
 the Board applies the presumption of compensability from AS 23.30.120(a)(1) to the benefits claimed. 

The claimant having established the presumption of compensability, the burden shifts to the employer to rebut this presumption with substantial evidence. "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
     The Board examines the employer’s evidence in isolation to determine whether it has: (1) produced substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminated any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.
  

The employer presented evidence from Dr. Harris, Dr. Samson, and Dr. Zivin to show that the employee’s condition did not exist, was not work related, caused no permanent impairment and did not prevent her from working.  The Board does not weigh the credibility of the testimony during the second stage of the presumption analysis.
  We find the testimony and reports from the employer’s doctors Harris, Zivin and Samson is the amount of, and type of, relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.

The Board finds the reports of the employer’s physicians including Dr. Harris, Dr. Zivin and Dr. Samson are sufficient evidence to rebut the presumption of compensability.
  The employee must therefore prove her claim for benefits by a preponderance of the evidence.
   It is not necessary that work is the legal cause. Rather, we are instructed by the Alaska Supreme Court that we are to impose workers' compensation liability "whenever employment is established as a causal factor in the disability."
  A "causal factor" is a legal cause if "it is a substantial factor in bringing about the harm" at issue.
 

The Board finds that the employee has failed to establish her claim based on the preponderance of the evidence.  Dr. Kuhaneck is specifically rejected as a supporting physician because although he has treated the employee, he accepts her version of events without questioning their veracity.  Dr. Krehlik’s reports and conclusions are also rebutted.  The SIME physicians have both found that the employee does not suffer from a condition which has been objectively measured.  Dr. Turco says that work is not a substantial factor in bringing about any physical complaints. This is borne out by the test results from Swedish Hospital which show not verifiable seizure evidence.  The SIME physician Dr. Turco says that the complex partial seizures are related to a biological defect in her nervous system.  He says work is not a substantial factor in bringing about any physical complaints. 
 He found that she tended to project her difficulties on others.  He found that her work has not aggravated, accelerated or combined with any preexisting psychological state to produce additional physical injuries.  The Board adopts Dr. Turco’s findings.  The Board finds that her work has not caused any medical problem.  The Board also finds that her complex partial seizures are essentially independent and an inherent part of her nervous system.   Dr. Turco added that work situations do not produce epilepsy.  He found she did not suffer any mental injury while working for the employer. He also found that the problems she described in the workplace were not indicative of unusual or extraordinary stress.  She requires no further testing or treatment and she has no permanent impairment.
  He also found she could return to work.   Although the employee would discount Dr. Turco’s findings as only dealing with epilepsy when what she says she has are non-epileptic seizures, we note the employee spent four days at Swedish Hospital in January 2003 and no evidence of seizure activity was found.  In fact, Dr. Vossler who saw her during this period wrote to her and told her the seizures were “psychogenic”.

In addition, SIME physician Dr. Sobol examined her for heart problems.  He found a mild mitral valve prolapse and propensity for chest pain and palpitations.
  He found she had not sustained any physical injury.  He found no cardiac disease or condition of concern.  He also found that while her work conditions may have aggravated her symptoms, they did not result in any permanent change or disability. He believed she was medically stable at the time of the examination and was so within three months of discontinuing work.   He found that she was never physically unable to work as a human resources manager.  He found no need for additional treatment or diagnostic testing except for continuation of her current medications.  He found no permanent impairment.
 The Board adopts Dr. Sobol’s conclusions.   

Dr. Samson also expressed similar conclusions in his letter of October 11, 2001 in which he states the employee suffers from functional symptoms, has no work injury, has not aggravated any preexisting cardiac condition, has no reason not to be able to work as a human resources manager and has suffered no permanent impairment.  He concluded that she had not suffered any permanent impairment or temporary aggravation as a result of her employment with the employer.
  The Board adopts Dr. Samson’s conclusions.

In arriving at our conclusion, we also give weight to Dr. Zivin’s report in which he notes that the employee uses stress to generate symptoms, that the employer did not cause injury to the employee, that she has no impairment and no complex partial seizures.
 Her employment did not combine with or accelerate with any preexisting condition to result in disability or need for medical treatment.  He concluded the employee was medically stable and neurologically sound before, during and after her employment with the employer. 

 The Board also finds that the employee has failed to establish the existence of any somatoform disorder. While the Board notes that Dr. Yang prescribed Tegretol for what he believed to be the employee’s complex partial seizures, this condition would have been diagnosed as of October 12, 2001, well after the employee’s employment with the employer terminated. The Board notes that in his October 12, 2001 report he is not really certain of the diagnosis.  We also note that there are numerous other medical experts, particularly Dr. Zivin, Swedish Medical and Dr. Vossler, who reviewed this record. They found the employee did not have complex partial seizures so we question this diagnosis and do not believe this condition, if it exists, is related in any way to her employment.

The Board also notes that even her own physicians, such as Dr. Boulos, express doubts about her symptoms.  In the employee’s closing argument, she gave citations to prior medical reports which she says show the existence of a heart problem.  However, the Board rejects her version of what these reports say and notes that these statements were taken out of context and did not take into account an overwhelming body of medical evidence provided in this record which finds the employee suffering from no job related physical or mental ailment.  The employee has not established that work aggravated any of her preexisting conditions.  

The Board also relies on Dr. Harris’ report.  Dr. Harris concluded that the employee’s passive dependent personality disorder was characterized by a history of somatization complaints which are based on overutilization of defenses such as denial and projection.
  He observed “…she has pursued a path lifelong of blaming others for whatever problems she has in life and a utilization of quasi-physical complaints to validate these complaints.”
  He found no evidence of “extraordinary or unusual stress” in her work with the employer.
  He concluded that “she has no physical findings that support a diagnosis of physical disease and her complaints do not manifest a mental disorder condition or diagnosis related to her employment.”
  Her found her to be stable as defined by AS 23.30.395(21).  He found that her work had nothing to do with her medical condition and her physical condition and that she was not disabled.  He concluded that she was not mentally or physically unable to work as a human resources manager or anything else she would desire to work at.  He recommended no further treatment since there was no relevant diagnosis.  He concluded she was medically stable throughout her employment with the employer.

The Board adopts Dr. Harris’ conclusions.

At the hearing, the employee objected to reference in Dr. Harris’ report to events which occurred in 1971 as the release she signed only went back to l979.  She requested the tapes of Dr. Harris’ interview.  The employer indicated in response to her argument that the employee had not requested cross-examination of Dr. Harris and had waived her right to do so.  The matter was taken under advisement.  The Board has considered the parties’ arguments and did not consider any material in Dr. Harris’ report extending back to 1971.  However, deleting this material does not alter the fundamental conclusions of the report which the Board considered after deleting references to material related to 1971.

Because the employee has not established she is eligible for PTD, the Board also concludes that her requests for medical benefits, medical transportation costs, frivolous controversion, penalty and costs associated with appearance at these proceedings are denied as she is not established a compensable claim.

II.  DID THE EMPLOYEE SUFFER A COMPENSABLE MENTAL INJURY IN THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF HER EMPLOYMENT?


Alaska Statute 23.30.395(17) defines "injury" in pertinent part:


“Injury" means accidental injury or death arising out of and in the course of employment . . . "injury" does not include mental injury caused by mental stress unless it is established that (A) the work stress was extraordinary and unusual in comparison to pressures and tensions experienced by individuals in a comparable work environment, and (B) the work stress was the predominant cause of the mental injury; the amount of work stress shall be measured by actual events; a mental injury is not considered to arise out of and in the course of employment if it results from a disciplinary action, work evaluation, job transfer, layoff, demotion, termination, or similar action, taken in good faith by the employer. 

The statutory presumption of compensability for a physical injury claim does not apply to a claim of mental injury caused by work-related stress. 
AS 23.20.120(c).  In Williams v. State of Alaska,
  the Alaska Supreme Court held:


To prevail, [Employee] had to establish by a preponderance of the evidence, without benefit of the presumption of compensability, that: (1) "the work stress was extraordinary and unusual in comparison to pressures and tensions experienced by individuals in a comparable work environment"; and (2) the work stress, as measured by actual events, "was the predominant cause of the mental injury. . . . [E]ach element of the test for mental injury arising from work-related stress is mandatory. . . ."  

Because the statutory presumption of compensability does not apply to the employee's mental injury claim, she must prove this claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true.  Saxton v. Harris.
 Claims for a mental injury must be based on actual events, not the employee's perception of the events.  Arnold v. Tyson Seafoods Group.
  

Based on the Board’s review of the record, and the testimony of the witnesses concerning the employee’s work, the Board finds that the employer did not expose the employee to a situation in which sexual harassment or harassment from the Director of Finance occurred.  Rather, the Board finds by a preponderance of the available evidence that the employer’s witnesses are credible and that the Director of Finance did not engage in conduct which would rise to the level of harassment or sexual harassment or cause unusual and extraordinary stress in the workplace.   This finding is based on the testimony of Ms. Hagevig, Ms. Grant, Ms. Barto and Mr. Elliot.  The Board finds that all of these witnesses are credible with regard to the absence of unusual and extraordinary stress in the employer’s workplace. AS 23.30.122.  We also rely on the reports of Dr. Turco
 and Dr. Harris
 in arriving at this conclusion.  The Board finds by a preponderance of the available evidence that the employee has not established that work stress was extraordinary and unusual in comparison to pressures and tensions experienced by individuals in a comparable work environment.

The Board has also reviewed the evidence and argument of the parties and concluded that there is no evidence of unusual and extraordinary stress in the employer’s workplace. The Board bases this finding on the testimony of the employer witnesses who worked with the employee.  This finding is also supported by the comments of SIME Psychiatrist Dr. Turco who noted that much of what the employee described did not appear to be indicative of anything unusual or extraordinary.
  Dr. Turco noted that much of what the employee described in the workplace was the usual interaction between supervisor and supervisee as well as co-workers attempting to get a job done.
  Dr. Harris also noted there was no evidence the stress experienced by the employee was unusual or extraordinary in the workplace.

Considering all the evidence available in the record, we are unable to find by the preponderance of the evidence that the employee’s work conditions entailed extraordinary and unusual conditions in comparison to pressures and tensions experienced by individuals in comparable work environments.  For mental injuries arising from work-related stress, the Alaska Supreme Court requires that the Board must find each element of the test has been met independently before we can find the claim compensable.  Because the Board cannot find the employee’s work conditions involved extraordinary and unusual stress, the Board must conclude the employee’s claim of mental injury from mental stress is not compensable.  Williams v. State of Alaska.
  The Board must deny and dismiss this claim.  In so doing, the Board finds that based on the statements of the employee, her associates who testified for the employer, and Dr. Turco’s comments and Dr. Harris’ comments, the employee is not credible with regard to her testimony as to her own condition and as to events in the workplace in particular. AS 23.30.122.  In contrast, the Board finds the employer’s witnesses to be credible. AS 23.30.122.  The Board also bases its determination of the employee’s lack of credibility on her testimony and examples of less than honest behavior including but not limited to failing to tell an employer that she had been fired from her job with the North Slope Borough.  Dr. Turco also questioned the employee’s perception of reality.  The Board also has noted discrepancies between and among the various medical reports which are based in part on varying accounts given to her doctors by the employee.

III.  ADMISSION OF INTERNET DOWNLOADS AND JOURNAL ARTICLES ON EPILEPSY
The employee offered for inclusion in the record Internet downloads and journal articles which explain epilepsy and non epileptic seizures.  The employer objected to admission of the articles due to inability to cross-examine their respective authors.  The employer also asserts they do not fall within the any applicable exceptions to the hearsay rule. See pages 24-26 of this order for further description of the parties’ positions.  The employee maintains that these materials are sufficiently trustworthy to merit inclusion in the record and are offered for informational purposes only.

The Board has had an opportunity to review the comments submitted by the parties regarding admission into the Board’s record of the journal articles and Internet downloads.  The Board believes that they should be excluded from the record based on the employer’s inability to cross-examine their respective authors.  This ruling is made in accordance with 8 AAC 45.120(c)(3), (f), (g) and (h) and Employer’s Commercial Union Insurance Group v. Schoen.
  Contrary to the employee’s assertion, the Board does not find that the employer’s request for cross-examination was defective.  The Board also believes that even if the documents were admitted, they would not provide sufficient information which would specifically relate to the employee’s condition.  For these reasons, the documents in question are excluded from the record and they have not been considered in arriving at the decision in this matter.


ORDER
1.        The employee has not established a work related physical or mental injury. There is nothing unusual and extraordinary about her employment with the employer.  The employee has not established a compensable claim.

2. The journal articles and Internet downloads offered by the employee at hearing, which were not subject to cross examination by the employer, are excluded from the record.

3.  References to the employee’s 1971 history in Dr. Harris’ report are stricken and are not included in the record.
     


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this  14th day  of  July,  2004.
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APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION


Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 

CERTIFICATION


I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of CYNTHIA A. PRATT, employee / applicant, v. CATHOLIC COMMUNITY SERVICES, employer, CATHOLIC MUTUAL/NORTHERN ADJUSTERS, INC., insurer /adjuster, defendants; Case No. 200017992; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this 14th day of  July,  2004.
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� Letter to Robert Griffin, Esq., dated August 9, 2002.


� September 18, 2002 Pratt letter to Gerke


� October 10, 2002 controversion notice


� September 11, 2002 Hunter-Joerns letter


� electroencephalogram


� January 24, 2003 Vossler discharge summary


� January 28, 2003 Social Security Administration decision


� February 12, 2003 Kuhaneck report at 3


� February 14, 2003 Vossler letter


� February 28, 2003 Zivin report


� Id. at 24


� Id. at 25


� Id.


� March 19, 2003 Kuhaneck note


� July 10, 2003 workers’ compensation claim


� July 14, 2003 workers’ compensation claim


� September 23, 2003 Boulos letter at 2


� November 18, 2003 Boulos letter


� Id.  The “next hearing” referred to is the May 18, 2004 hearing.


� AWCB Decision No. 04-0059 (March 8, 2004)


� Hearing tape


� July 16, 2001 Pratt deposition


� Hearing tape


� 519 P.2d 819 (Alaska 1974)


� January 31, 2004 SSA letter


� 519 P.2d 819 (Alaska 1974)


� May 27, 2004 Employer’s Post-Hearing Evidentiary Brief at 5


� June 10, 2004 Employee’s Post  Hearing Evidentiary Brief


� AS 23.30.120(a); Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279


� Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981)


� Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985)


� Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987)


� Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316


� Wein Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d at 473-74


� Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991)


� Id. (quoting Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316)


� Id.; Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978)


� Veco, 693 P.2d at 869


� Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Comp. Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991)


� Miller, 577 P.2d 1044


� Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 880 P.2d 1051 (Alaska 1994)


� Koons, 816 P.2d 1381


� Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964)


� Smallwood, 623 P.2d 316


� DeYonge v. NANA/Marriot, 1 P.3d 90


� Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981)


� Meek, 914 P.2d at 1276


� Miller, 577 P.2d 1044


� Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Comp. Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991)


� DeYonge, 1 P.3d 90


� Miller, 577 P.2d 1044 (emphasis added)


� See DeYonge, 1 P.3d 90; Safeway v. Mackey, 965 P.2d 22, 27-28 (Alaska 1998); Grainger, 805 P.2d at 977; Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941, 942 (Alaska 1992). ("It has always been possible to rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting a qualified expert who testifies that, in his or her opinion, the claimant's work was probably not a substantial cause of her disability.") 


� Meek, 914 P.2d at 1280


� Doyon Universal Services v. Allen, 999 P.2d 764, 770 citing  Ketchikan Gateway Borough v. Saling, 604 P.2d 590, 597-98 (Alaska 1979) (emphasis in original)


� Id. 


�June 14, 2002 Turco report at 8


� Id.


� February 14, 2003 Vossler letter


� June 14, 2002 Sobol report at 8


� Id.


� October 11, 2001 Samson letter


� February 28, 2003 Zivin report at 24-25


� See, for example, Dr. Zivin’s comments at 17-19


� Id. at 5


� Id.


� Id. at 5


� Id. at 6


� Id.


� 939 P.2d 1065, 1071-72 (Alaska 1997)


� 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964)


� AWCB Decision No. 97-0253 (December 11, 1997)


� June 14, 2002 Turco report at 8


� December 6, 2001 Harris report at 5


� June 14, 2002 Turco report at 8


� Id. at 4


� December 6, 2001 Harris report at 5


� 938 P.2d 1065 (Alaska 1997)


� 519 P.2d 819 (Alaska 1974)
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